RECEIVED

May 01 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Judge James B. Jackson, Jr., Special Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-001266

Anne Wiggins Smith,

Appellant,

v.

John L. Wiggins, III, individually and as
Trustee of the John L. Wiggins, Jr. Revocable
Trust, and Margaret Eugenia Utsey Wiggins,
Individually and as Trustee of the Margaret
Eugenia Utsey Wiggins Revocable Trust,

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Russell A. Blanchard IV, SC Bar No. 76369
Williams & Williams Attorneys at Law LLC
P.O. Box 1084
Orangeburg, SC 29116
Phone: 803.534.5218
Fax: 803.928.5191

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE LOWER COURT INCORRECTLY FIND THAT THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS ON PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM BEGAN TO RUN ON SEPTEMBER 5, 2014?
2. DID THE LOWER COURT INCORRECTLY FIND THAT PLAINTIFF FAILED TO PROSECUTE HER CLAIM?
3. DID THE LOWER COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN BY FAILING TO CONSIDER LESS HARSH PENALTIES THAN OUTRIGHT DISMISSAL OF PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal follows from a case originally filed with the Orangeburg County Probate Court on August 24, 2017. In her Complaint, Plaintiff makes claims for accounting, breach of fiduciary duty, negligence, constructive trust, and attorney's fees and costs. (R. p. 51) The Probate Court transferred the case to Circuit Court sua sponte by Order dated September 7, 2017. (R. p. 1). Defendants timely filed an Answer denying Plaintiff's claims on or about November 16, 2017. (R. p. 59). Plaintiff timely filed her Reply on December 14, 2017. (R. p. 67). Defendants were originally represented by Adam T. Silvernail, but due to health issues, Defendants' current attorney was substituted as counsel on June 25, 2018. On July 24, 2018, Plaintiff served her first set of Interrogatories and Requests for Production on Defendants. The parties entered into a Scheduling Order on August 17, 2018. (R. p. 2). Defendants served their responses to Plaintiffs First Interrogatories and Request for Production on September 25 and 26, 2018.

Defendants filed their first Motion for Summary Judgment on October 4, 2018, (R. p. 69) and on the same date served Interrogatories and Request for Production on Plaintiff. On October 19, 2018, Plaintiff requested that Defendants supplement certain responses to Plaintiff's First Interrogatories and Request to Produce. As part of the discovery process, Plaintiff also issued several subpoenas, and a Motion to Quash Subpoena was filed by Defendants on October 31, 2018, asking the Court to quash the subpoena sent to Morgan Stanley. (R. p. 72).

Defendants filed a Motion to Compel on December 17, 2018, (R. p. 80) and on February 1, 2019, this case was referred to Judge James B. Jackson, Jr., as Special Circuit Court Judge. (R. p. 5). Plaintiff served her second set of Interrogatories and Request for Production on Defendants on February 27, 2019.

On June 20, 2019, Defendants filed a Motion for Temporary Restraining Order requesting the Court prevent Plaintiff and her attorney, F. Glenn Smith, from contacting First National Bank of South Carolina or any of its employees, officers, or directors regarding the litigation. (R. p. 98). Plaintiff filed her Reply and exhibits requesting the Motion be denied. (R. p. 113). A hearing was held on July 10, 2019, and an Order was issued on July 19, 2019, restraining Plaintiff or her attorneys from contacting First National Bank of South Carolina. (R. p. 8).

On July 29, 2019, a hearing was held on Defendant's Motion to Quash Subpoena and Motion for Summary Judgment. The hearing on Defendant's Motion to Compel was continued because Plaintiff had responded to Defendants' Interrogatories and Requests for Production, and Defendants needed additional time to review the responses. Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment was ultimately denied by the Court on October 14, 2019. (R. p. 11). Defendants filed a Motion to Reconsider on October 15, 2019. (R. p. 248).

On November 14, 2019, Plaintiff served her Third Supplemental Request to Produce on Defendants.

On February 19, 2020, attorneys for the parties had a phone conference with the Court to discuss the taking of the deposition of Defendant Margaret E. U. Wiggins. The deposition went forward on February 21, 2020, and an Order was signed on March 2, 2020, which set out the ground rules the parties followed at the deposition. (R. p. 17).

On February 25, 2020, an Answer and Counterclaim was filed on behalf of Defendant Margaret Eugenia Utsey Wiggins, individually and as Trustee of the Margaret Eugenia Utsey Wiggins Revocable Trust. (R. p. 250). Plaintiff timely filed her Reply on March 5, 2020. (R. p. 257).

On June 11, 2020, Plaintiff served a Fourth Supplemental Request to Produce which replaced Plaintiff's Third Request to Produce. Plaintiff sent Defendants' counsel a letter on August 26, 2020, requesting responses to Plaintiff's last Request to Produce. Ultimately, Plaintiff filed a Motion to Compel on September 22, 2020. (R. p. 259).

Defendants served Plaintiff with responses to her discovery requests on December 9, 2020, and Plaintiff requested a hearing on the previously filed Motion to Compel because the responses were insufficient. On February 3, 2021, Plaintiff filed a Motion requesting she be allowed to communicate via video conferencing with her mother, Defendant Margaret E. U. Wiggins. Defendants filed their response on February 17, 2021. (R. p. 274). A hearing on Plaintiff's Motion for Video Conferencing was heard on March 1, 2021. On May 21, 2021, Plaintiff served her Fifth Supplemental Request to Produce on Defendants.

Defendants filed a Motion for Temporary Restraining Order on May 7, 2021, (R. p. 294) and a hearing was held on this motion on May 26, 2021. An Order was issued on June 16, 2021, which restrained Plaintiff and her attorney, F. Glenn Smith, from communicating with third parties about the lawsuit or the family business, Wiggins Family Properties, LLC. (R. p. 19)

A hearing was held on Plaintiff's Motion to Compel on July 27, 2021. As a result of the hearing, the Court required Defendants to supplement their responses to certain requests to produce and to produce additional documents. Defendants did provide additional discovery, and after some back and forth over the contents of the Order, an Order from the hearing on Plaintiff's Motion to Compel was filed on February 28, 2022. (R. p. 30).

On or about September 10, 2021, Defendants Noticed the Deposition of F. Glenn Smith, who is Plaintiff's husband and attorney in this matter. Plaintiff filed a second Motion to Compel on September 14, 2021, based on Defendant's failure to respond to Plaintiff's Fifth Request for

Production. (R. p. 319) Plaintiff filed a Motion to Quash the Notice of Deposition of F. Glenn Smith on October 12, 2021, (R. p. 334) and this Motion was initially granted without a hearing by Order dated November 10, 2021. (R. p. 26). Defendants filed a Motion to Alter or Amend the Order granting Plaintiff's Motion to Quash on November 22, 2021. (R. p. 406). Defendants also filed a Motion to Dismiss on January 18, 2022. (R. p. 479). A hearing was held on February 23, 2022, on Defendants' Motion to Dismiss and Motion to Reconsider the Court's October 12, 2021, Order granting Plaintiff's Motion to Quash. As a result of the February 23, 2022, hearing, a Scheduling Order was signed on May 23, 2022. (R. p. 34). The Court also denied Defendants' Motion to Reconsider and clarified that Mr. Smith would not be deposed and ultimately would not be allowed to testify as a witness in this case.

A status conference was held on July 18, 2022, and Plaintiff's attorney F. Glenn Smith filed a Motion for Sanctions on July 18, 2022. (R. p. 492).

Defendant filed a Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute on July 25, 2023, (R. p. 586) and a Motion for Summary Judgment on October 6, 2023. (R. p. 659). These Motions were heard on October 10, 2023, and Defendants' Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute and Motion for Summary Judgment were granted by Order filed November 28, 2023. (R. p. 26). Plaintiff filed a Motion to Reconsider on December 8, 2023, and provided a copy of the Motion to Judge James B. Jackson Jr., on December 13, 2023. (R. p. 733). Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider was denied by Order of the Court filed July 17, 2024. (R. p. 48). This appeal followed.

FACTS

John L. Wiggins, Jr., father of Plaintiff Anne W. Smith and Defendant John L. Wiggins, III, created the John L. Wiggins, Jr., Revocable Trust on October 6, 1998. (R. p. 893). On the same date, the Margaret E. U. Wiggins Revocable Trust was created by Mr. Wiggins' wife who is also the mother of Plaintiff and Defendant John L. Wiggins, III. (R. p. 905). John L. Wiggins, Jr., died testate on June 26, 2003, and his Estate was probated in Orangeburg County. At his death, Mr. Wiggins' Estate was transferred to his trust, and the trust was divided into a Marital Trust and the Children's Share. Defendant Margaret E. U. Wiggins was the beneficiary of the marital trust. Plaintiff is a beneficiary of the Children's Share and a remainder beneficiary of the Marital Trust. Defendant John L. Wiggins, III, is trustee of both the John L. Wiggins, Jr., Revocable Trust, and the Margaret E. U. Wiggins Revocable Trust. The provisions of both the John L. Wiggins Jr. Revocable Trust and the Margaret E. U. Wiggins Revocable Trust were essentially the same when the Trusts were created. Margaret E. U. Wiggins has amended her Trust at least twice after it was created.

Beginning in July of 2004, within a year of Mr. Wiggins' death, Defendant Margaret E. U. Wiggins began loaning Defendant John L. Wiggins, III, funds from the John L. Wiggins, Jr., Trust. *See* Marital Trust Loan Agreement (R. p. 918). The loans were used for personal needs such as adding onto Defendant John L. Wiggins, III's home and for his daughter's wedding. (R. p. 836, line 20-p. 837, line 5) To make the loans money was moved from the John L. Wiggins, Jr., Trust into the Margaret E. U. Wiggins Revocable Trust. Defendant Margaret E. U. Wiggins then had a check written to Defendant John L. Wiggins, III, from the Margaret E. U. Wiggins Trust for the amounts he needed. (R. p. 839, lines 7-20). Over 10 years after the loans began, a Loan Agreement was entered into on August 5, 2014. (R. p. 731-732). An analysis done by the accounting firm,

McGregor & Company, LLP, on August 25, 2014, shows the principal balance of the loans at \$146,103.00 and the accrued interest as \$17,169.00. (R. p. 668). The written loan agreement secures the repayment of the loan against Defendant John L. Wiggins, III's interest in both his father's and mother's Trusts.

After the McGregor & Company report was sent to Plaintiff, her attorney, Mr. Smith, began sending requests for more information to Defendant John L. Wiggins, III. Plaintiff sent "about twenty eight letters and about forty emails asking for reports [she was] due as a beneficiary of both" trusts. (R. p. 711-712).

On December 22, 2015, Defendants transferred 3,613 shares of stock in FNB Corporation from the Margaret E. U. Wiggins Revocable Trust to the John L. Wiggins Jr. Trust to repay the loans made to Defendant John L. Wiggins, Jr. (R. p. 731). The Margaret E. U. Wiggins Revocable Trust essentially purchased the debt of Defendant John L. Wiggins Jr., through this transaction.

Defendant Margaret E. U. Wiggins died on September 4, 2022, and her Estate has been filed with the Orangeburg County Probate Court in Case No. 2022-ES-38-00669. The Margaret E. U. Wiggins Revocable Trust is the residuary beneficiary in her Last Will and Testament.

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

When a case originates in the Probate Court, the standard of review used on appeal depends upon “whether the underlying cause of action is at law or in equity.” *In re Estate of Hyman*, 362 S.C. 20, 25, 606 S.E.2d 205, 207 (Ct. App. 2004). “If the proceeding in the probate court is in the nature of an action at law, [the Appellate Court] may not disturb the probate [court]’s findings of fact unless a review of the record discloses there is no evidence to support them.” *In re Estate of Cumbee*, 333 S.C. 664, 670, 511 S.E.2d 390, 393 (Ct. App. 1999). “In a law case tried without a jury, questions regarding the credibility and the weight of evidence are exclusively for the trial [court].” *Golini v. Bolton*, 326 S.C. 333, 342, 482 S.E.2d 784, 789 (Ct. App. 1997). “If probate proceedings [are] equitable in nature, the [appellate] court, on appeal may make factual findings according to its own view of the preponderance of the evidence.” *In re Howard*, 315 S.C 356, 361-62, 434 S.E.2d 254, 257-58 (1993). The claims raised in Plaintiff’s Complaint are both legal and equitable in nature. This appeal stems from the lower Court’s decision to grant Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute and Motion for Summary Judgment. These decisions each have their own standard of review which is discussed below.

I. THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS DID NOT BEGIN TO RUN ON PLAINTIFF’S CLAIM ON SEPTEMBER 5, 2015.

Summary judgment is a “drastic remedy” that is only appropriate when there are no genuine issues of material fact and when the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56, SCRCP; *Spence v. Wingate*, 395 S.C. 148, 156, 716 S.E.2d 920, 925 (2011) (recognizing that summary judgment must “be cautiously invoked to ensure that a litigant is not improperly deprived of a trial.”). In determining the existence of a genuine issue of fact, a court must view “the evidence and all reasonable inferences drawn from it . . . in the light most favorable

to the nonmoving party,” *S. Glass & Plastics Co. Inc. v. Kemper*, 399 S.C. 483, 490, 732 S.E.2d 205, 209 (Ct. App. 2012), and determine whether a verdict for the nonmoving party “would be reasonably possible under the facts,” *Stewart v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 341 S.C. 143, 149, 533 S.E.2d 597, 600 (Ct. App. 2000). Summary judgment is not warranted “where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law.” *Lanham v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of S.C., Inc.*, 349 S.C. 356, 362, 563 S.E.2d 331 (2002). It is also inappropriate even when the evidentiary facts are not in dispute “if there is disagreement concerning the conclusion to be drawn from those facts.” *Id.*

In their Motion for Summary Judgment, Defendants contend that the one-year Statute of Limitations set out in S.C. Code Ann. §62-7-1005(a) began to run on September 5, 2014, and bars Plaintiff from filing this action after September 5, 2015. (*See generally* R. p. 659 and 665). Section 62-7-1005(a) requires a beneficiary to file suit within one year of being provided with a report that adequately discloses the existence of a potential claim for breach of trust. The relevant question under the statute is when was Plaintiff provided a report that adequately disclosed the existence of her claim? Section 62-7-1005(b) states that “[a] report adequately discloses the existence of a potential claim for breach of trust if it provides sufficient information so that the beneficiary or representative knows of the potential claim or should have inquired into its existence.”

Defendant’s claim that the one-year statute began to run on September 5, 2014, is based on an email sent by Plaintiff’s attorney, F. Glenn Smith, to Jack D. Cordray. (*See* R. 671). This email references a report which indicates loans were made from the trust to Defendant John L. Wiggins III. (R. p. 668). The report shows the principal balance of the loans and the outstanding interest due, but it does not give any explanation of the terms of the loan or any other details about the

loans. The Marital Trust Loan Agreement, dated August 5, 2014, indicates that the Agreement applies to a loan or loans originally agreed to between Defendant John L. Wiggins, III and Defendant Margaret E. U. Wiggins in 2004. (R. p. 918). This document is clearly created to provide terms for whatever handshake agreement was entered into between mother and son for the loans he received from the John L. Wiggins, Jr., Trust. The Marital Trust Loan Agreement is not referenced in Mr. Cordray's Affidavit or included with the report that Mr. Smith references in his September 5, 2014, email.

Upon receiving the report, Plaintiff began to seek more information to assist her in determining what action she may need to take. Plaintiff states that prior to August 9, 2014, she had access "to the bank statements and checks on the account of the Marital Trust." (R. p. 713). Defendants provided an email from Defendant John L. Wiggins, III to Plaintiff's counsel, F. Glenn Smith, dated December 30, 2015, which provides bank statements for the time period from August 1, 2014, through November 30, 2015. After that date, she was no longer provided with bank statements on the account.

Without the Marital Trust Loan Agreement and the additional information that was sought by Mr. Smith, Plaintiff could not know what actions she should take or how to proceed. Mr. Cordray's Affidavit indicates that he received "29 letters" from Mr. Smith beginning in November of 2014. (R. p. 665). These letters make it clear that Plaintiff was actively seeking additional information through her attorney and not receiving it. Plaintiff indicates in her Affidavit that Mr. Smith sent "about twenty eight letter and about forty emails asking for reports" and as late as January 2, 2017, she was receiving "not even the courtesy of an acknowledgement." (R. 711-712). She further states that she was not notified of the deposit of \$167,320.47 in December of 2015, "until after this action was instituted by way of a discovery response." (R. p. 713). Plaintiff's

expert, Mr. Burkett, needed information related to the value of the shares in FNB Corporation to determine if the loans made to Defendant John L. Wiggins, III, complied with the terms of the Loan Agreement. (R. p. 732). Plaintiff was not provided with valuation information for FNB Corporation when the loans were disclosed in 2014. It is inequitable to allow Defendant Wiggins to use his own delay in providing information to prevent Plaintiff from determining what action she needs to take, including filing suit.

In the case cited in the Order Granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, the one-year statute of limitation was found to begin where the parties received a letter that "explained the depletion of the accounts" at issue and further "expressed the [Trustee's] contrition for its delay" after receiving a request for information from a beneficiary. *Mayer v. M.S. Bailey & Son*, 347 S.C. 353, 361, 555 S.E.2d 406 (2001). This is different from the case at issue because Defendant John L. Wiggins III did not provide any explanation for the loans in the disclosure provided to Plaintiff. The only way for Plaintiff to get more information on the loans made to Defendant John L. Wiggins, III was for him to provide it and the number of times that Plaintiff's attorney had to request additional information shows how complicated that process was made by Defendant John L. Wiggins, III.

Here, the documentation provided to the Court when viewed in the light most favorable to Plaintiff, shows that the one-year Statute of Limitations did not begin to run on September 5, 2014, because Defendants refused to provide the additional information requested by Plaintiff. It would be inequitable to allow a Defendant to use his own failure to provide information as a shield against being held accountable for breaching his fiduciary duties. Summary judgment is a drastic remedy, and it is not appropriate where evidence exists supporting Plaintiff's contention that the Statute of

Limitations had not run when she filed her Complaint. Based on this information, the lower Court should have denied Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment.

II. THE LOWER COURT INCORRECTLY FOUND THAT PLAINTIFF FAILED TO PROSECUTE HER CASE.

“Whether an action should be dismissed for failure to prosecute is left to the discretion of the trial court judge, and his decision will not be disturbed, except upon a clear showing of an abuse of discretion.” *McComas v. Ross*, 368 S.C. 59, 62, 626 S.E.2d 902, 904 (Ct. App. 2006). The decision to dismiss a case for failure to prosecute “should be exercised discreetly and only after due consideration of the availability of sanctions less severe than dismissal.” *Id.* at 63, 626 S.E.2d at 904. The Fourth Circuit has set out four factors to consider prior to dismissing a case for failure to prosecute: (1) the plaintiff's degree of personal responsibility; (2) the amount of prejudice caused the defendant; (3) the presence of a drawn out history of deliberately proceeding in a dilatory fashion; and (4) the effectiveness of sanctions less drastic than dismissal. *Hillig v. Comm'r of Internal Revenue*, 916 F.2d 171, 174 (4th Cir. 1990). Here, the lower Court incorrectly found that Plaintiff failed to prosecute her case and most importantly failed to consider any sanctions less harsh than outright dismissal.

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