RECEIVED

May 01 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

Judge James B. Jackson, Jr., Special Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2024-001266

Anne Wiggins Smith Appellant,

v.

John L. Wiggins, III, Individually and as Trustee of the John L. Wiggins, Jr.
Revocable Trust, as Trustee of the Margaret Eugenia Utsey Wiggins
Revocable Trust, and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Margaret
Eugenia Utsey Wiggins

..... Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Amy L.B. Hill (SCB 68541)
Dixie N. McCollum (SCB 106795)
Richardson Thomas, LLC
1513 Hampton Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29201

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

IV. ARGUMENT

As detailed above, this litigation involves a family dispute regarding two trusts and the maintenance of those trusts. The Wiggins Trust was irrevocable upon Mr. Wiggins's death and the Children's Share portion was distributed a number of years ago to the Wiggins Family Properties, LLC pursuant to agreement of the three children: Anne, Jane, and John. The Utsey Trust was a revocable trust at the time this litigation started as Mrs. Wiggins was the settlor and had the ability to change the Utsey Trust or revoke it altogether up to the point of her death. *See* Ex. B of Compl., Utsey Trust (R. p. 905). Thus, the only Trust that was at issue in this litigation is the Marital Trust, which is the only remaining portion of the Wiggins Trust.

This litigation was filed on August 24, 2017, almost seven and a half years ago. At the time this litigation was initiated, Mrs. Wiggins was 91 years old. The litigation involved a very contentious fight initiated by Anne. The tone of the litigation was such that the trial court issued restraining orders against Anne and Glenn restraining them from discussing the allegations in the lawsuit with any third parties after Glenn sent multiple letters to the bank, founded by the Wiggins Family and to the church the Wiggins family has attended for over 150 years, describing Anne's allegations against her brother and elderly mother. *See* July 19, 2019 TRO (R. p. 8); June 16, 2021 TRO (R. p. 19). This litigation drove a wedge between Anne and the rest of the Wiggins family. Despite her desire that this litigation end during her lifetime, Mrs. Wiggins died on September 4, 2022 – shortly after the fifth anniversary of the filing of this lawsuit. As will be set forth below, Anne has had years to prove her case but has failed to at the very least set forth her alleged

damages, most likely because there are none.⁶ Further, and most importantly, Anne's claims are barred by the applicable Statute of Limitations. For the reasons set forth below, the Respondent respectfully request that the Appellate Court uphold the trial court's rulings.

A. The Lower Court Correctly Ruled that Anne's Claims are Barred by the Applicable Statute of Limitations.

At all relevant times, John served as trustee of the Wiggins Trust and the Utsey Trust. Anne's causes of actions all center around loans made to John from the Wiggins Trust. *See* Compl. ¶ 19 (R. p. 51). This Court has made clear that "actions concerning the administration of trust accounts fall squarely within the Probate Code statute of limitations." *Mayer*, 347 S.C. at 358-59, 555 S.E.2d at 409 (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-302(a)(3) (Supp. 2000)). The probate court "has exclusive original jurisdiction of proceedings initiated by interested parties concerning the internal affairs of trusts...administration and distribution of trust the declaration of rights, and the determination of other matters involving trustees and beneficiaries of trusts...." S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-302(a)(3). Most importantly for this litigation, the administration of trusts are controlled by Article 7 of the Probate Code, "which establishes either a one or three year statute of limitations, depending on the extent of disclosure, within which a beneficiary is required to initiate a lawsuit against the trustee for mismanagement of the trust accounts." *See Mayer*, 347 S.C. at 359-360, 555 S.E.2d at 409. This rule ensures that trustees have the freedom to manage trusts without fear of litigation being initiated years after the fact.

⁶ John has always denied any wrongdoing on his part. He admitted he received loans from the Wiggins Trust, which included interest to be repaid to the Trust. However, for purposes of this motion, the question is not whether John breached his duty but whether 1) Anne initiated this lawsuit in time or 2) prosecuted this lawsuit in a timely manner.

i. Anne's Claims Are Barred by the Probate Code's One-Year Statute of Limitations.

The S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-1005 of the Probate Code limits claims against a trustee to one year after a beneficiary, in this case Anne, received a report that “adequately discloses the existence of a potential claim for breach of trust if it provides sufficient information so that the beneficiary or representative knows of the potential claim or **should have inquired into its existence.**” *See* § 62-7-1005(a)(b). (emphasis added). **Documents that “detail the status” of a trust are sufficient to put a beneficiary on notice of a potential claim.** *See Mayer* 347 S.C. at 360, 555 S.E.2d at 409-410 (dismissing a beneficiary’s claims against a trustee according to both a one and a three-year statute when the suit was initiated more than three years and one year after receiving the trust bank statements).

The loan transactions complained of by Anne have been fully disclosed in previous reports supplied to her more than a year prior to her filing this lawsuit on August 24, 2017. First, Anne admits in her affidavit dated July 23, 2019 (but filed with the trial court immediately prior to the summary judgment hearing) that she received the bank account statements for the Wiggins Trust (Marital Trust) every month **until August 9, 2014.** *See* A. Wiggins Aff. dated July 23, 2019, p. 5 (R. p. 244). However, most importantly, Anne received a full report of the Wiggins Trust (Marital Trust) as well as the assets owned by Mrs. Wiggins prepared by the accounting firm McGregor & Company dated August 25, 2014 (“McGregor Report”). *See* Ex. A of Cordray Aff., McGregor Rpt., pp. 4-6 (R. pp. 667-669). The McGregor Report was prepared pursuant to Anne and Glenn’s request. *See* Cordray Aff. ¶10 (R. 665). Glenn and Anne acknowledged receipt of the McGregor Report at least by **September 5, 2014**, when Glenn emailed Cordray and referenced having “just received what appears to be an evaluation by McGregor and Company of the interest of Anne, Jane and Johnny in and to the estate of their mother at the time of her death.” *See* Ex. B of Cordray

Aff., Ltrs from Glenn, pp. 7-8 (R. pp. 670-671). The McGregor Report listed in detail all the assets owned by the Wiggins Trust as well as the Utsey Trust assets and life insurance policy values. *See* Ex. A of Cordray Aff., McGregor Rpt., pp. 4-6 (R. pp. 667-669). As the trial court recognized, “[t]he McGregor Report specifically lists notes receivable to John L. Wiggins, III as well as accrued interest receivable to John L. Wiggins, III, and a note receivable to Jane W. Thompson.” *See* Nov. 28, 2023 Order, p. 6 (R. p. 36). The report also valued the Trust at \$1,525,167, and it even listed the assets contained in the Utsey Trust, including stock owned in First National Bank. *See* Ex. A of Cordray Aff., McGregor Rpt., pp. 4-6 (R. pp. 667-669).

The McGregor Report is exactly the type of report that the probate code contemplates as the start of a one-year statute of limitations. After receiving the McGregor Report, Anne and Glenn continued to make inquiries regarding the loans from the Trust. After receiving the McGregor Report, Anne conceded she “*began to seek more information to assist her in determining what action she needed to take.*” (App.’s Initial Br., p. 15) (emphasis added). Thus, even by her own words, the McGregor Report put Anne on notice that she needed to make an inquiry. Pursuant to the terms of South Code Ann. § 62-7-1005(a)(b), Anne’s receipt of the McGregor Report by at least September 5, 2014 put her on notice of the potential claim **or** at least that Anne **should have inquired into its existence.** *See* § 62-7-1005(a)(b). In fact, the receipt of the McGregor Report clearly put Anne on notice that she should make additional inquiries – because that is exactly what she did by and through her husband and attorney, Glenn. Yet, Anne did not file a complaint until many years later.

On **September 9, 2014**, Glenn, noted that the report also referenced loans payable to John and his sister Jane and that he was making additional inquiries into those loans. *See* Ex. B of Cordray Aff., Ltrs from Glenn, p. 9 (R. p. 672). Anne further admits that what Cordray attests to

in his affidavit – Glenn sent Cordray at least 29 letters beginning in November 2014. *See* Cordray Aff. ¶¶ 13-16. (R. p. 665).

The record, even in the light most favorable to Respondent, shows that Anne received the McGregor Report by September 5, 2014, and that upon receiving the McGregor Report, Anne began making further inquiries as to any claims she might have regarding the loans to John and Jane from the Wiggins Trust. To the extent legitimate claims existed related to these loans, Anne failed to initiate the same within one year of receiving the McGregor Report. For this reason, the trial court correctly granted Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment as to the one-year statute of limitations.

ii. Anne’s Claims Are Barred by the Three-Year Statute of Limitations.

Even if the one-year statute of limitations does not apply to Anne’s claims, then a three-year statute comes into play pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530. Anne conceded she was aware of potential issues with John’s role as trustee as early as **June 30, 2014**, when John “had been caught and confronted” by Anne. *See* Plf’s Memo in Opp. to Mot. for Summ J., p. 3 (R. p. 717). On **July 25, 2014**, Glenn sent a letter to attorney David Sojourner, as attorney for the Trusts, seeking additional information but noting that John “is in breach of his duty as fiduciary.” *See* Ex. A of Def.’s Mot. Memo. in Support of Motion to Alter or Amend Order Quashing Dep. Notice to F. Glenn Smith filed Nov. 22, 2021, p. 12 (R. p. 428). Further, Anne noted in her own affidavit that her concerns about the trust’s management date back to at least **August 5, 2014**, three years before this suit was filed. *See* A. Wiggins Aff. dated July 23, 2019, p. 3 (R. p. 242).

Anne was, according to her own words, clearly on notice that she may have claims regarding Respondent alleged breaches of fiduciary duty more than three years before filing her lawsuit on August 24, 2017. The discovery rule requires that the statute of limitations begins to

run from the date the injured party either knows or should know, by the exercise of reasonable diligence, that a cause of action exists for the wrongful conduct. *See Graham* 404 S.C. at 239, 743 S.E.2d at 862 (Ct.App. 2013) (citing *True v. Monteith*, 327 S.C. 116, 119, 489 S.E.2d 615, 616 (1997)). Courts have interpreted “the exercise of reasonable diligence” to mean that the injured party must with some promptness if the facts and circumstances would have placed a reasonable person of common knowledge and experience on notice that a claim against another party might exist. *Id.* (citing *Dean v. Ruscon Corp.*, 321 S.C 360, 363-64, 468 S.E.2d 645, 647 (1996)). In this case, Anne was already employing the use of her attorney husband who claimed that John had been “caught and confronted” on June 30, 2014. *See* Plf’s Memo in Opp. to Mot. for Summ J., p. 3 (R. p. 717). Certainly, that declaration by Anne indicates that she was aware or should have been aware that she had an alleged potential claim against Respondent as of June 30, 2014. Anne’s lawsuit was filed later than three years after June 30, 2014. For this reason, even if Anne’s claims are not barred by the one-year statute of limitations, Anne’s claims are barred by the three-year statute of limitations as set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530.

B. The Lower Court Correctly Found that Anne Failed to Prosecute Her Case.

The lower court correctly found that Anne failed to prosecute her case because, despite this case being ongoing since 2017, Anne never provided a calculation of damages, a claimed damages amount, or an expert report which caused numerous delays and explicitly violated the lower court’s June 30, 2022 Scheduling Order. In fact, the trial court gave Anne an additional **sixteen months** from the time the trial court originally said it would dismiss her case – and yet Anne still failed to provide any damages numbers, calculations, or expert reports. As previously stated, the standard of review for a motion to dismiss for failure to prosecute is “a clear showing of an abuse of discretion.” *Jackson v. Henry*, No. 2019-000953, 2023 WL 1431735, at *2 (S.C. Ct. App. Feb. 1,

2023). Given the lengthy litigation, the lower court’s repeated warnings and even additional sixteen months past the June 30, 2022 original court-mandated deadline, Anne cannot show a clear abuse of discretion. For this reason, the trial court’s dismissal must be affirmed.

Anne raises a four-factor test to determine the validity of a Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute. *See* App.’s Initial Brief, pp. 8-9. As the South Carolina Supreme Court explained in *I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*,

In contrast, different preservation rules apply to an *appellant*—the losing party in the lower court. An appellate court may not, of course, *reverse* for any reason appearing in the record. The losing party must first try to convince the lower court it has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred. **This principle underlies the long-established preservation requirement that the losing party generally must both present his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling before an appellate court will review those issues and arguments.** *E.g., Smith v. Phillips*, 318 S.C. 453, 458 S.E.2d 427 (1995) (**appellate court generally will not address an issue unless the issue was raised to and ruled upon by the trial court**); *State v. Williams*, 303 S.C. 410, 401 S.E.2d 168 (1991) (same); *Sumter Building & Loan Ass’n v. Winn*, 45 S.C. 381, 23 S.E. 29 (1895) (same).

338 S.C. 406, 421–22, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (bold emphasis added).

Here, Anne never argued in her Motion for Reconsideration that the lower court failed to apply the four-factor test she now alleges should apply. Her 2-page Motion for Reconsideration does nothing more than ask the court to reconsider its prior ruling. *See* Plf’s Mot. to Reconsider (R. p. 733). Nonetheless, even if Anne had preserved this issue for appeal, she cannot satisfy any of the factors set forth in *Hillig v. Comm’r of Internal Revenue*, 916 F.2d 171, 174 (4th Cir. 1990).

i. Factor #1: The plaintiff’s degree of personal responsibility

To support this factor, Anne argues “there is nothing in the record that shows Plaintiff personally took any action or failed to take any action that prevented this case from moving to final hearing and being decided on the merits.” *See* App.’s Initial Br., p. 11. To the contrary, the lower court relied on several indicators. Anne commenced this lawsuit on August 24, 2017.

Despite her claim that she has been “actively pursu[ing] her case” for the past seven years, the record reveals the opposite. *Id.* In January of 2022, Respondent filed their Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute because as of that date—nearly four and a half years after the commencement of this lawsuit—Anne had **still** failed to provide damages information or an expert report necessary for Respondent to depose Anne and adequately prepare for trial. Any blame attributable to Anne’s attorney, her own husband, is equally attributable to Anne as there is little doubt Anne was fully aware of Glenn’s actions prior to and during litigation. Since 2014, the record reflects that Anne and Glenn were acting in tandem. It is a well-established legal principle that the plaintiff is the master of her complaint. *See, e.g., Chavis v. Fid. Warranty Servs., Inc.*, 415 F. Supp. 2d 620, 627 (D.S.C. 2006). Here, Anne alleges in her complaint that she has been harmed by John’s conduct as trustee. Anne has been in possession of the trust bank records, which were provided and continually have been supplemented, since 2018. In fact, Anne received hundreds of financial documents over the course of the litigation. *See* Ex. 1 of Def.’s Second Mot. To Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute, Master Discovery Index enclosed with Aug. 26, 2022 Ltr., pp. 4-7 (R. pp. 594-597). Yet, despite Respondent’s multiple discovery requests asking Anne to provide a calculation of the damages she is alleged owed or should be returned to the trust(s), Anne continuously failed to provide this information.

ii. Factor #2: The amount of prejudice caused to the defendant

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